
Chief Executive’s Directorate
Legal and Democratic Services  The Lonsdale Building  The Courts  Carlisle

Cumbria  CA3 8NA
Tel 01228 606060  Email democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk

15 June 2016

To:  The Chair and Members of the Cumbria 
Health Scrutiny Variation Sub-Committee

Agenda
CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY VARIATION SUB-COMMITTEE

A meeting of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Variation Sub-Committee will be held as follows: 

Date: Thursday 23 June 2016
Time: 1.30 pm
Place: Grand Jury Room - The Courts, Carlisle, CA3 8NA

Dawn Roberts
Assistant Director – Corporate Governance 

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Lynn Harker
Direct Line: 01228 226364
Email: lynn.harker@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria



MEMBERSHIP

Mr M Cassells - Barrow Borough Council
Mr N Hughes - Eden District Council
Ms C McCarron-Holmes (Vice-Chair) - Allerdale Borough Council
Ms G Troughton - Cumbria County Council (Copeland)
Ms J Williams - Carlisle City Council
Mr M Wilson (Chair) - Cumbria County Council (South Lakeland)

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk/councilmeetings/ 

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/councilmeetings/


A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1. Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2. Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3. Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority.

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) Which has not been fully discharged. 

4. Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.

5. Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.

6. Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge).

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

7. Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area 
of the authority; and

(b) Either – 



(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).

3  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.

4  MINUTES

To receive the minutes of the last meeting held on 12 November 2015 (copy enclosed).

5  HELME CHASE MIDWIFE-LED MATERNITY UNIT

To consider reports by the Chief Executive and Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group 
(copies enclosed).

6  MENTAL HEALTH PROVISION

To consider a report by the Chief Executive and presentation from the Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group (copies enclosed).

7  PROPOSED MERGER OF CASTLEGATE AND DERWENT SURGERIES, 
COCKERMOUTH

To consider a report by the Chief Executive (copy enclosed).



CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY VARIATION SUB-COMMITTEE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Variation Sub-Committee held 
on Thursday, 12 November 2015 at 1.30 pm at Committee Room 4 - County 
Offices, Kendal, LA9 4RQ

PRESENT:

Mr M Wilson (Chair)

Mr M Hawkins
Ms C McCarron-Holmes (Vice-Chair)

Mrs M Robinson
Ms J Williams

Officers in Attendance:-

Ms L Fawcett - Primary Care Business Manager, NHS England
Mrs L Harker - Democratic Services Officer
Mr D Houston - Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Adviser
Ms C Keen - Director of Commissioning, NHS England
Ms A McBride - Practice Manager, Steele & McBride Dental Practice
Mr I Steele - Dentist, Steele & McBride Dental Practice
Mr D Stephens - Policy & Scrutiny Project Officer

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

An apology for absence was received from Mrs D Seward.

1 ELECTION OF CHAIR

The County Council representatives elected a Chair of the Sub-Committee from 
amongst their members.

RESOLVED, that Mr M Wilson be elected Chair of the Sub-Committee for the 
ensuing year.

2 ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR

The District Council representatives elected a Vice-Chair of the Sub-Committee 
from amongst their members.

RESOLVED, that Ms C McCarron-Holmes be elected Vice-Chair of the 
Sub-Committee for the ensuing year.

5

Agenda Item 4



3 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest on this occasion.

4 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED, that the press and public be not excluded from the meeting for any 
items of business.

5 TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Terms of Reference for the Sub-Committee were noted.

6 DENTAL PRACTICE, ASPATRIA

The Sub-Committee received a report from the Chief Executive regarding the 
proposed relocation of Aspatria Dental Practice.

The report contained a submission from NHS England with a proposal to relocate 
the services at Steele and McBride Dental Practice, Aspatria, to Steele and McBride 
Dental Practice, Maryport, and to merge the two contracts. 

Members were informed that a proposal had been submitted to relocate the services 
at Steele and McBride Dental Practice, 5 King Street, Aspatria, Wigton to Steele and 
McBride Dental Practice, 9 Curzon Street, Maryport and to merge the two contracts.  
The proposal had been considered by NHS England’s Primary Care Operational 
Group where the view was that this was not a substantial variation, however, a final 
decision was deferred pending consultation with the Cumbria Health Scrutiny 
Committee.

The Sub-Committee were informed that the Maryport practice was six miles from 
Aspatria and on the main bus route with regular trains running between the two 
towns.  The practice was opened in 1995 with the aim of creating a full-time practice 
with a full-time associate but unfortunately, due to problems with sourcing and 
retaining associates in West Cumbria, the Practice had run on a part-time basis of 
15 hours per week since the advent of the General Dental Services Contract in 
2006.  

Members were informed that the proposed merger would increase the clinical 
availability from a current combined total of 39 to 69 hours per week.  The current 
provider had confirmed that should the merger request be approved, the Practice 
opening hours would be reviewed to potentially include further extended opening 
hours due to the fact that there would be no wasted travel time between the two 
practices.  

6



The Sub-Committee were informed that, taking into consideration the above, NHS 
England Cumbria and the North East were supportive of the merger and relocation 
proposals.

The Sub-Committee discussed the proposals and concerns were raised regarding 
DDA compliance at the Maryport site.  Members were informed that issues around 
DDA compliance due to the building being located in a conservation area also 
applied to the site at Aspatria but measures had been taken at both sites to allow 
access. 

On being put to the vote it was

RESOLVED, that the proposals do not constitute a substantial variation service 
change.

The meeting ended at 2.05 pm

7



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY VARIATION 
SUB-COMMITTEE

Meeting date: 23 June 2016

From: Chief Executive

HELME CHASE MIDWIFE-LED MATERNITY UNIT

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 This report contains a submission from Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) outlining a proposal to make a permanent variation in service. 

2.0 ISSUES FOR SCRUTINY

2.1 The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider whether the 
proposal constitutes a substantial service change;

3.0 BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 

3.1 To support the Committee in considering the proposed changes, Appendix 1 is 
a report from Cumbria CCG setting out the details of, and rational for the 
permanent variation.  In addition, Appendix 2 includes the Substantial Variation 
Protocol as agreed by the Health Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on the 
15 October 2015.

3.3 At the meeting the Sub-Committee will have the opportunity to seek clarification 
on any issue from Cumbria CCG and following that will be asked to make 
decisions on whether it considers the change to be a substantial variation. 

3.4 If the Sub-Committee decides that the proposed changes are not a substantial 
variation to the service then the changes can proceed without any further 
decisions by the full Committee or any reference to the Committee in the future.

3.5 If, however, the Sub-Committee decides that the proposed changes are a 
substantial variation then the proposal will be referred to the full Committee to 
decide what it would consider to be proportionate consultation.

3.6 In addition, if the Sub-Committee decides that the proposed changes are a 
substantial variation, then the full Committee will once again consider the 
proposals at a future meeting in light of the outcome of the consultation.  

Diane Wood
Chief Executive

June 2016

9

Agenda Item 5



Appendices

Appendix 1 Report from Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group
Appendix 2 Substantial Variation Protocol

Contact: Derek Houston, Email: derek.houston@cumbria.gov.uk Tel: 07771 975902

10

mailto:derek.houston@cumbria.gov.uk


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report for Cumbria County Council Health 
Scrutiny Variation Subcommittee  

 
– Helme Chase Midwifery-led Unit,  

Westmorland General Hospital, Kendal 
 

June 2016 
 

11



 

Executive Summary 
 
Helme Chase is a standalone midwifery-led unit at Westmorland General Hospital 
(WGH), part of the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
Women who are assessed as having a low risk pregnancy (ie they are unlikely to 
develop any complications during their pregnancy, while giving birth or after the 
baby is born) are able to give birth at Helme Chase. The unit is staffed by 
experienced midwives and clinical support workers. 
 
In December 2014 the trust, supported by NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) and NHS North Lancashire CCG made an interim change at Helme Chase 
which means that the unit operates an on call service overnight and during 
weekends and bank holidays. As such, during these times staff do not stay on the 
unit unless they are caring for a woman in labour but are at home and will meet 
women at the unit to provide care as required. The unit is staffed during the day to 
provide a range of services including clinics, drop-in antenatal sessions, breast 
feeding support and unit tours. 
  
This interim change happened at a time when the trust’s maternity service was 
under pressure and subject to intense local and national interest. The Morecambe 
Bay Investigation was underway; there were significant recruitment difficulties and 
high levels of sickness. At the same time there had been a reduction in the number 
of deliveries at Helme Chase and it was felt that some of the staffing capacity could 
be used more flexibly to support the trust-wide service and ease staffing shortages 
within the consultant-led maternity units at Royal Lancaster Infirmary (RLI) and 
Furness General Hospital (FGH). 
 
Since then low risk women have still been able to access a 24 hour intrapartum 
(labour and delivery) service at Helme Chase. The unit also continues to provide a full 
range of maternity services including antenatal clinics, scanning, postnatal care and 
parent education. Community midwifery and home birth services for Kendal and the 
South Lakes continue to be co-ordinated from Helme Chase. 
 
Following the introduction of the interim arrangements, more than 3,000 clinical 
hours have been freed up. The Helme Chase midwifery staff are now able to work 
flexibly across the trust, which means they are able to gain experience of working in 
the busier units and therefore retain their skills and competencies. The trust has also 
been able to develop more personalised antenatal and postnatal support for 
women, which is in response to national and local feedback from engagement 
activities. 
 
While there has been a reduction in the number of deliveries at the unit since the 
interim change was made, this was a trend that was already happening. During 2013 
there were 280 women who presented in labour to give birth at the unit. Of those, 

 
 
12



 

around 200 delivered their babies at the unit and the remainder transferred in 
labour to one of the trust’s main delivery suites at Furness General Hospital (FGH) or 
Royal Lancaster Infirmary (RLI) as a result of complications or for increased pain 
relief. During 2014 the number had dropped to 190 women presenting in labour. 
Since December 2014 there have been around 10 births a month.  
 
The reduction in women delivering their babies at Helme Chase will be due to a 
number of reasons, including changes in national guidance which means that more 
women no longer meet the criteria to birth in a standalone midwifery-led unit and 
also robust arrangements to implement that guidance. Instead they are required to 
deliver their babies at a consultant-led unit where there are obstetricians, other 
specialists and back up services available in case of complications. Also, during 
engagement activities women have said they would choose to go to a consultant-led 
unit to avoid an ambulance transfer to another hospital if complications arise.   
 
Prior to and following the publication of the Morecambe Bay Investigation report 
there has been a considerable amount of work by the trust to improve and 
strengthen maternity services across the trust. The trust has been sharing regular 
updates with all stakeholders and reported recently that it was on track to 
implement all of the recommendations. 
  
The trust has also been working with the CCGs on a programme of work following 
the independent review of maternity services across Cumbria and North Lancashire 
by the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists which has focused on the 
actions necessary to sustain consultant-led units at both RLI and FGH. 
 
As part of these activities there has been a significant amount of engagement with 
local women and the Maternity Services Liaison Committees to inform service 
developments and this is now an embedded way of working. 
 
The next programme of work for the trust and the CCGs will involve responding to 
the recommendations of ‘Better Births’, which sets out a five year forward view for 
maternity care and was published early in 2016 following the national review of 
maternity services led by Baroness Cumberlege. 
 
Meanwhile, the interim arrangements at Helme Chase have not impacted negatively 
on recruitment; in fact that there are indications that it is now a more attractive 
proposition for applicants. 
 
Furthermore, a CQC inspection during 2015, which reported in December 2015, a 
year after the interim change was made, gives Helme Chase a rating of good in all 
areas - safe, effective, caring, responsive and well led. This was the same as the 
rating for the previous inspection. 
 
 

 
 

13



 

 
The CQC made many positive comments about the unit and commented that the 
trust had consulted with staff and the local community to develop a sustainable 
service which met the needs of the local community in an aim to promote normality. 
The trust and the CCGs now feel that the interim change at Helme Chase should be 
made permanent.  
 

1 Purpose of report 
 

• To provide an update to the subcommittee following an interim change to 
services at the Helme Chase Midwifery-led Unit, Westmorland General 
Hospital, Kendal.  

• To explore with the committee whether making the interim change on a 
permanent basis would constitute a substantial variation. 

2 Background 
 
Helme Chase is a standalone midwifery-led unit at Westmorland General Hospital 
(WGH), part of the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust. 
Women who are assessed as having a low risk pregnancy (ie they are unlikely to 
develop any complications during their pregnancy, while giving birth or after the 
baby is born) are able to give birth at Helme Chase. The unit is staffed by 
experienced midwives and clinical support workers. 
 
During 2013 there were 280 women who presented in labour to give birth at the 
unit. Of those, around 200 delivered their babies at the unit and the remainder 
transferred in labour to one of the trust’s main delivery suites at Furness General 
Hospital (FGH) or Royal Lancaster Infirmary (RLI) as a result of complications or for 
increased pain relief. During 2014 the number had dropped to 190 women 
presenting in labour.  
 
The midwives also provided antenatal and postnatal care to approximately 750 
women per year. In addition to providing inpatient postnatal care for the women 
who delivered in Helme Chase, women who had delivered their babies at FGH and 
RLI sometimes transferred to Helme Chase. 
 
Community midwifery was also coordinated from Helme Chase for the women of 
Kendal and South Lakes area. 
 
Prior to October 2013 there were two midwives rostered for each shift, including 
throughout the night, with the addition of maternity assistants during the day. 
Changes in national guidance, which have resulted in fewer women being assessed 
as low risk (and therefore suitable for a delivery in a standalone midwifery-led unit) 

 
 
14



 

contributed to the delivery rate at Helme Chase falling by around 30% over two 
years. This guidance from the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 
(NICE) covered the management of women during pregnancy with hypertension, 
diabetes, weight issues and complex social factors. 
 
Taking into account this reduced activity rate, in October 2013 the onsite staffing 
was reduced to one midwife and one maternity assistant overnight, with second on-
call support from the on-call community midwife. 
 
In November 2014 the trust board supported a further service change, which was to 
stop overnight onsite cover by introducing an out of hours on-call service.  This 
decision was taken against the background of the sustained pressure on maternity 
services as a result of the Morecambe Bay Investigation including high levels of 
sickness (at one point 30% at FGH) and difficulties in recruiting midwives following a 
number of retirements. All of this meant that the trust was not able to provide safe 
staffing levels in its consultant-led maternity units which manage high risk 
pregnancies. 
 
The decision was supported by the commissioners, NHS Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and NHS Lancashire North CCG who recognised the 
serious pressures on the trust and the need to make the best possible use of all 
staffing resources across the maternity services. The CCGs also recognised the 
relatively low activity levels at Helme Chase which meant that for many nightshifts 
there were no women in the unit to care for but staff still had to be on duty in the 
unit. 
  
Another important factor was at that time there was understandable public concern 
around child birth and women were wanting to give birth in units where all support 
services were available should difficulties arise.  
 
The interim change enabled the trust to use its staff more flexibly so that if needed 
they could support the two consultant-led maternity units or enhance the 
community services provided for women. 
 
At the time, the trust’s maternity services division worked closely with the Royal 
College of Midwives and the trust’s HR and communications team to inform the 
women, the local community, GPs and support staff about the interim change. 
  
The interim change started on 1 December 2014 and since then more than 3,000 
clinical hours have been released back to the trust’s maternity services. 
 

3 Service in place since December 2014 
 
Low risk women are still able to access a 24 hour intrapartum (labour and delivery) 
service at Helme Chase. The unit also continues to provide a full range of maternity 

 
 

15



 

services including antenatal clinics, scanning, postnatal care and parent education. 
Community midwifery and home birth services for Kendal and the South Lakes 
continue to be co-ordinated from Helme Chase. 
 
The current service is provided as follows: 
 

• Monday – Friday 8am to 8pm there is one midwife and one maternity 
assistant onsite.  

• Monday – Friday 8pm to 8am, weekends and bank holidays there are no 
staff onsite, the intrapartum service is provided by the on-call midwives 
(three on call). 

• On call rota – the first on-call midwife is rostered to work until 2pm, then 
is allocated a rest period before starting their on-call commitment at 
8pm. The second and third on-call midwives work their normal clinical 
day until 5pm. The midwives are rostered a “flexi-day” following on-call 
shift which means they have no pre-booked clinics, so that they can take 
a rest day if they are called out overnight. 

• Access to the service for women in labour – during the out of hours 
period, women who are booked to birth at Helme Chase contact the on-
call midwife. They can choose to be assessed at home and progress to a 
homebirth or choose to meet the midwife at Helme Chase. Support is 
provided for the birth by the second on-call midwife. The third on-call 
midwife is used during periods of increased activity or to support a 
transfer to RLI or FGH if this is required. 

• Following delivery - the midwife completes the documentation and 
provides immediate postnatal care for a minimum of three hours, then 
following discussion the woman and her baby will be supported to return 
home. Postnatal care is provided by the community midwifery service in 
the woman’s own home. Once safe discharge and transfer of mother and 
baby is complete the on-call service is resumed. For women who deliver 
their babies in the early evening, the initial postnatal care will be 
continued by the on-call team and transfer home facilitated at around 
three hours following delivery. 

• Inpatient postnatal service - Helme Chase no longer provides a 24 hour 
postnatal inpatient service; women and families are informed of this 
during the antenatal period. In some circumstances it may be that the 
woman is able to stay after delivery until the following morning. If the 
woman or her baby is medically not well enough for early discharge she is 
transferred to a postnatal ward at RLI or FGH. 
 

 
 
16



 

4 Impact of the interim change 
 
4.1 Number of deliveries 
 
During the 15 months (from 1 December 2014 to 31 March 2016) since the changes 
were introduced at Helme Chase the number of births has reduced at the unit.  
 
Figure 1 below shows the number of women birthing at Helme Chase and also the 
number of home births against the previous year’s activity.  
 
Figure 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

home births

total births

previous years births

 
 

17



 

Figure 2 shows the post code areas of the women who presented at Helme Chase in 
labour during 2015/16. (The Kendal area has been classified as LA8 and LA9.) 
 

 
 
 
The actual towns and villages where the women who presented in labour from 1 
December 2014 and February 2016 are shown in Figure 3 below: 
 

Figure 3 - Postal Town Total 
Kendal 74 
Carnforth 26 
Windermere 13 
Penrith 12 
Ambleside 11 
Lancaster 11 
Morecambe 8 
Milnthorpe 7 
Appleby-in-Westmorland 6 
Grange-over-Sands 5 
Sedbergh 5 
Garstang 2 
Ulverston 2 
Grand Total 182 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11.4% 

42.5% 

1.6% 

44.5% 

Figure 2 -  2015/16 arrivals in labour by postcode area 

CA Postcode

Kendal

Other

Other LA Postcode

 
 
18



 

 
 
The reduction in women using Helme Chase, although greater since the interim 
changes were introduced, continues a trend that has been ongoing for a few years 
and could be due to a number of reasons including changes in national guidance 
which has increased the numbers of women needing enhanced antenatal 
surveillance and intrapartum monitoring (and therefore reduced the numbers of 
women eligible to deliver in a standalone midwifery-led unit).  
 
The guidance includes: 
 

• NICE: Antenatal care: routine care for the healthy pregnant woman (CG62) – 
March 2008  

• NICE: Intrapartum care: management and delivery of care to women in labour 
(CG55) – September 2007  

• NICE: Hypertension in pregnancy: the management of hypertension disorders 
during pregnancy (CG107) – August 2010  

• NICE: Diabetes in pregnancy: management of diabetes and its complications 
from pre-conception to the postnatal periods (CG63) – March 2008  

• NICE: Dietary interventions and physical activity interventions for weight 
management before, during and after pregnancy (PH27) – July 2010  

• NICE: Pregnancy and Complex Social Factors: a model for service provision for 
pregnant women with complex social factors (CG110) – September 2010. 

During engagement activity women have said they would choose to birth in a 
maternity unit where there are obstetricians and other specialists available in case of 
problems. There has also been some anecdotal feedback that women are choosing 
to give birth at RLI or FGH because of the lack of postnatal overnight stays and that 
out of area women are now choosing to give birth in their own locality. 
 
The table below (Figure 4) provides monthly information on birth activity at Helme 
Chase, including a breakdown of when the deliveries occurred ie daytime and out of 
hours on weekdays and daytime and overnight at weekends. The previous year’s 
data is also included for comparison. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

19



 

 
Figure 4 - Helme Chase birth data December 2014 – February 2016 
 
MONTH Daytime 

Mon-Fri 
08.00-
20.00 

Out of 
hours 
Mon-Fri 
20.00-
08.00 

Weekend 
Day 
 08.00-
20.00 

Weekend 
Night 
20.00-
08.00 

Home 
births 

Total 
 births 

Previous 
year’s 
births  
 

Dec   14 3 6 3 0 2 14 16 

Jan   15 4 4 1 2 0 11   9 
Feb   15 3 2 1 1 0 7 12 
Mar   15 4 2 3 2 x2 inc 11 24 
April  15 3 4 1 3 x2 inc 11 15 
May  15 2 2 2 2 x1 inc 8 18 
June  15 6 2 2 2 x1 inc 12 18 
July   15 7 3 0 0 0 10 11 
Aug   15  3 5 2 2 x2 inc 12 15 
Sept 15 4 2 2 1 1 10 21 
Oct 15 3 3 0 2 0 8 27 (0 

homebirths) 
Nov 
2015 

4 5 1 0 0 10 17 (3 
homebirths 
inc) 

Dec 
2015 

2 3 1 1 0 7 16 (2 
homebirth 
inc) 

Jan 
2016 

2 3 0 2 3 10 11 (2 
homebirths 
inc) 

Feb 
2016 

2 6 2 2 1 13 7 ( 2 
homebirths) 

TOTALS 52 52 21 22 7(8 
inc) 

154 237 

 
 
In terms of future activity at the unit, Figure 5 below shows the number of women 
booked to deliver their babies at Helme Chase. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
20



 

Figure 5 
Month  Number of 

women 
booked to 
birth at Helme 
Chase 

Feb     2016  21 
March 2016  20 
April    2016  14 
May     2016  12 
June    2016  17 
July     2016   21 
Aug     2016   25 
Sept    2016   14  
 
 
4.2 Clinical hours released back to service and how this is being used to improve 
care 
 
The implementation of the out of hours service means that midwives are not 
physically resident in the unit overnight for an eleven hour night shift, if there is no 
clinical activity. 
 
The table below (Figure 6) sets out the number of nights every month when 
activity/calls were less than two hours. This results in the midwife being available to 
work a full shift the following day, releasing clinical hours back into the service. 
 
Overall it shows that there were 273 nights when activity was less than two hours 
which released 3,003 clinical hours back into the service. 
 
 
Figure 6 - Nights with activity /calls less than 2 hours resulting in hours released 
back to community 
 
Month Nights  Total hours released back to 

community 
Dec     2014 14 154 
Jan      2015 21 231 
Feb     2015 20 220 
Mar    2015 22 242 
April   2015 18 198 
May    2015 17 187 
June    2015 16 176 
July     2015 19 209 
August 2015 15 165 

 
 

21



 

Sept    2015  20 220 
Oct     2015  22 242 
Nov   2015  20 220 
Dec   2015   20 220 
Jan  201 5  17 187 
Feb  201 5  (1/2/118-  
25/2/16) 

 12 132 

TOTAL 273 nights  3,003 hrs 
 
Staff are no longer on duty in the unit overnight when there are no mothers and 
babies there and the trust has been able use the clinical hours released as a result of 
the interim change to improve the quality of service provided to women. The 
midwifery staff now work across the trust’s maternity services which means that 
they have more experience of working in busier units, as well as at Helme Chase, so 
that they can maintain their skills and competencies. They are also able to provide 
better antenatal and postnatal care. 
 
A consistent message from women during engagement activities is that it is 
important to them to be cared for by the same small team of healthcare 
professionals throughout their pregnancy. The trust now has greater flexibility to 
strive to achieve this and more women are able to have a named midwife looking 
after them. The trust already has a cohort of midwives who are working towards 
‘case loading’ which means that they are managing a case load from individual GP 
surgeries. This helps to provide better support to women throughout their 
pregnancy with the aim of being able to roster a named midwife for delivery. 
  
The trust has also been able recently to announce the roll-out of a new out of hours 
antenatal clinic at all of its sites, including Helme Chase, following a successful pilot 
in RLI. Again this followed comments during engagement activities when women said 
they would like more flexibility especially around antenatal appointments to avoid 
needing to take time off work, or make alternative childcare arrangements. The new 
service means that mothers to be and their partners can make an appointment to be 
seen out of normal working hours for any routine, non-emergency checks and to 
discuss individual birthing plans with a community midwife. The Helme Chase out of 
hours clinics are on Wednesdays from 5pm to 8pm. This development was 
welcomed by the Bay-wide Maternity Services Liaison Committee (which comprises 
the Maternity Matters groups at Furness, Lancashire North and South Lakes). 
 
The trust is now planning to extend this further and is looking at the possibility of 
offering drop-in clinics in community centres, children’s centres and pre-school 
groups in the future. 
 
 
 

 
 
22



 

4.3 Safety incidents 
  
There have been no patient safety incidents this year which have been directly (or 
indirectly) associated with the change in service. 
 
4.4 Home birth arrangements 
 
Since the implementation of the changes, it has been possible to sustain the home 
birth service (so there has been no suspension of this service). There have been 
three occasions when women booked for homebirth went into labour 
simultaneously, which exceeded the capacity of the service. This resulted in women 
requiring transfer to RLI. However, these referrals would have also occurred prior to 
the roster changes at Helme Chase, so this was not related in any way to having an 
on-call service. Home birth service provision is explained fully to all women 
requesting a home birth at the trust and every effort is made to redeploy staff to 
support the homebirth service. 
 
4.5 Recruitment and retention 
 
Resignations at Helme Chase have been as a result of planned retirements since the 
implementation of the on call rota. 
 
The service has successfully recruited 4.5WTE band 6 midwives since April 2015 
which is an indication that applicants have not been discouraged by the 
implementation of the on-call system.  
 
4.6 Care Quality Commission (CQC) report 
 
The CQC report for the trust published in December 2015, a year after the interim 
change was implemented, gives Helme Chase a rating of good in all areas - safe, 
effective, caring, responsive and well led. This was the same as the rating for the 
previous inspection. 
 
The report said there was clear leadership of the unit. Women’s care and treatment 
was planned and delivered in line with current evidence-based care. This was 
monitored to ensure consistency of practice. Care outcomes were within 
expectations or better than expected. 
  
It said women spoke positively about their treatment by clinical staff and the 
standard of care they received. Staff interacted with women in a respectful way. 
Women were involved in their birth plans and had a named midwife. There were 
processes in place to ensure women received emotional support where required. 
It commented that feedback from the NHS Family and Friends Test (FFT) showed 
98% of women would recommend antenatal care during May and June 2015. 

 
 

23



 

 
Between April and May 2015 the scores for women who would recommend 
postnatal community provision from the community midwives was better than the 
England average with 98% and 100% against a target of 98%. 
 
The report said: “The reconfiguration of the Helme Chase Maternity Unit had been 
controversial locally, however, the trust consulted with staff and the local 
community to develop a sustainable service which met the needs of the local 
community in an aim to promote normality.” 
 

5 Issues raised/comments from staff, public and 
other stakeholders 
 
5.1 Issues raised by staff 
 
The ability of staff to feed back their views to management has been crucial. It has 
ensured front line staff have been involved in the development as well as the 
delivery of new ways of working. Staff have suggested and implemented ideas and 
are willing to act as advocates of the change.   
 
Initially regular meeting were conducted between staff, managers, trust workforce 
and the regional Royal College of Midwives (RCM) representative to support staff 
through the initial period of change. While these meetings have not been needed 
since February 2015, the matron and manager maintain an open door policy for all 
staff to discuss any concerns. The RCM regional representative has reported that 
there have been no referrals from staff at Helme Chase. 
 
The engagement of staff was noted by the CQC during its inspection in 2015. In its 
report the CQC commented that staff felt engaged with the changes and that there 
was good local leadership. 
 
Concerns that have been raised by staff with management include: 
 

• Frequency of being on call – staff vacancies have meant midwives have 
needed to be on-call two and three nights per week to maintain a robust 
rota. This has been addressed with the community midwives at RLI and FGH 
supporting the rota for four nights a week, which has reduced the on-call 
commitment for Helme Chase staff. Band 5 midwives on rotation to Helme 
Chase also support the on call rota. The on-call rota is reviewed on a regular 
basis by the manager and matrons and any issues are escalated and 
addressed appropriately. 

• Triage of calls – the possibility of a cross Bay telephone triage service, to 
reduce the number of out of hours calls received by on call midwives, while 

 
 
24



 

ensuring that women have ease of access to advice and services, is being 
considered. A review of patient information to ensure that women are given 
appropriate information on who to contact for advice and support when 
women think they may be in labour has been undertaken and continues to be 
monitored. 

• Reducing birth numbers – the trust is committed to continuing to promote 
Helme Chase as a place for women to birth. As such, the matron, unit 
manager and clinical staff are working with service users and the Bay-wide 
Maternity Service Liaison Committee which include women who have used 
services, to positively promote services there. There will be “meet a midwife” 
sessions, on line tours of maternity services, evening antenatal clinics, 
weekend postnatal clinics, and breastfeeding clinics. There are also plans in 
place which are expected to be implemented by the end of June 2016 to 
develop a dedicated page on the trust’s website to detail the services 
available in the unit and the benefits of choosing a midwifery-led unit, a 
revised leaflet that clearly outlines how women are cared for at Helme Chase 
and a targeted social media campaign. Initial work on the revised leaflet has 
been supported by a dad following a discussion at a Maternity Services 
Liaison Committee meeting about ensuring that women and families get the 
right information.   

There have recently been discussions about the impact of the interim changes at a 
Quality Surveillance Meeting which is attended by senior managers and clinicians 
from the trust and the CCGs and no concerns were raised. 
 
5.2 Issues raised/comments from the public 
 
Since the interim service was introduced the trust has received seven concerns 
raised through the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) regarding the changes at 
Helme Chase; three of these were received via the local MP. None of these seven 
concerns resulted in a formal complaint about the service provided or the care 
received. During the same time period, the trust has received one formal complaint 
from a service user; this was in relation to a home birth and not about Helme Chase. 
  
Early in 2015, Facebook and Twitter campaigns were launched promoting the 
restoration of 24 hour inpatient services. A dialogue has been established with 
campaign organisers and positive communication is ongoing. The Facebook activity is 
now branded “I love Helme Chase” and the focus is “the promotion of positivity 
surrounding HCMU”. 
 
In 2014 NHS Cumbria CCG working with the three provider trusts, introduced a new 
system called iWantGreatCare, aimed at capturing comments from patients about 
their experience when using hospital and community health services. Patients can go 

 
 

25



 

on line and leave comments about the service they have been using. They are asked 
to indicate whether they would recommend the service and to rate dignity/respect, 
involvement, information, cleanliness and staff. The maximum rating for each 
category is five stars. Appendix 1 lists all of the comments received from 1 
December 2014 to 29 April 2016. 
 
During that period there were 36 responses about labour and delivery at Helme 
Chase, the majority of which included comments as well as star ratings. Every 
comment made was complimentary about the quality of care received with some 
indicating that it couldn’t have been better. These included: 
 

• ‘everything was excellent’ 
• ‘fantastic midwives, v personable care’ 
• ‘can not fault, very supportive’ 
• ‘wouldn’t improve anything’ 
• ‘absolutely first class care that could not be faulted in any way’ 
• ‘nothing could improve about the care’ 
• ‘extremely warm welcome on arrival’ 
• ‘all care was excellent…………..nothing was too much to ask’ 
• ‘we felt very confident’ 
• ‘fabulous service…….no improvement I can think of perfect’ 
• ‘very happy’ 
• ‘staff were very friendly and caring’ 
• ‘no complaints’ 
• ‘it was wonderful’ 

Of the 36 responses, 33 gave the maximum 5 star rating to the recommend category 
(the other 3 gave 4 stars to this category but gave 5 stars to the dignity/respect, 
involvement, information, cleanliness and staff categories). 
 
Of the 36, 30 gave 5 stars to dignity/respect, involvement, information, cleanliness 
and staff; the remaining six responses only gave a rating (5 stars) to the recommend 
section. 
 
Out of the 36 responses, four included references to overnight stays: 
 

• ‘it  would be nice to stay overnight if needed’ 
• ‘even better if the unit were 24 hours and there was the option to stay’ 
• ‘postnatal care should be brought back, especially for first time mums……’ 
• ‘all aspects were brilliant  - apart from being able to stay for a couple of 

nights postnatal care’.     

 
 
26



 

5.3 Issues raised/comments from other stakeholders 
 
The Bay-wide Maternity Services Liaison Committee has also taken a keen interest in 
the changes. Meetings with the Maternity Services Liaison Committee have provided 
an opportunity to have open and honest discussions about the changes. The 
Committee’s main issue is that women know what services are available at Helme 
Chase and that they can still birth there 24x7 (which is being addressed through the 
trust as part of its efforts to promote the service and update public information). 
 
The MP for Westmorland and Lonsdale, Tim Farron started an online petition ‘to 
bring back 24 hour maternity care to the Helme Chase unit at Westmorland General 
Hospital’. This was signed by 1,246 people. 
 
He has also commented through the media that the 24 hour on site cover should be 
restored. 
  
In February 2016 after the publication of the report following the national review of 
maternity services, led by Baroness Cumberlege, he wrote to the Secretary of State 
for Health and suggested that the 24 hr availability of staff on site should be restored 
at Helme Chase. He also suggested that Helme Chase could be one of the small 
number of consultant-led units in sparsely populated areas in the national report. 
 
As indicated in the previous section (5.2), Mr Farron sent three letters to the trust on 
behalf of his constituents. They were responded to, with assurance and clarification 
given. 
 
The MP for Penrith and the Border, Rory Stewart, wrote to NHS Cumbria CCG in April 
2015, shortly after the publication of the report following the independent review of 
maternity services across Cumbria and North Lancashire by the Royal College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. He asked if midwifery care provision at the Penrith 
Birthing Unit and Helme Chase could be reviewed as he had received comments that 
the unavailability of staff in the units on a 24 hour basis was resulting in a reduced 
number of women wishing to give birth there.  
 

6 Engagement activity  
 
A programme of engagement was undertaken during November 2015 to inform the 
implementation group which has been working on the redesign of maternity services 
across Cumbria and North Lancashire following the independent review of maternity 
services by the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. 
 
This was led by Healthwatch Cumbria working closely with the Bay-wide Maternity 
Services Liaison Committee and NHS colleagues. In South Cumbria and North 
Lancashire it built on engagement activity that had been taking place in relation to 

 
 

27



 

the Morecambe Bay Investigation. 
 
Overall the feedback showed there were generally high levels of satisfaction with the 
care received at all stages of pregnancy and after the birth of the baby. 
 
However, there were comments about how services could be improved and these 
are now being taken into consideration for future service developments. There were 
consistent messages about: 
 

• the importance of having the same small team of staff looking after women 
throughout pregnancy, labour, delivery and after the birth of the baby 

• the consistency and quality of the information received including to help 
them make decisions and choices  

• support for breast feeding 
• accessibility of services and choice. 

 
In relation to specific comments during this engagement activity about Helme Chase, 
it is fair to say that these represented a very small percentage of the overall 
comments received. Overall, there were 1,234 responses to the online survey and 
many of the questions had space for text comments. As such there were thousands 
of comments received. Of these 96 referred to Helme Chase, the majority of which 
were very positive. 
 
Of the 96 comments, 16 made reference to changed arrangements at the unit – for 
some, it wasn’t clear that the women responding understood that the unit still 
provided a service 24x7, while for others, women were definitely commenting on the 
fact that inpatient postnatal care was no longer available. 
 
The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee has previously received a report on the 
findings of the engagement activity and these were discussed at its meeting in 
February 2016. 
 
Ongoing engagement continues as part of efforts by the trust to ensure that service 
users are properly engaged. The trust and the Maternity Services Liaison Committee 
have engaged with service users to co-design an ‘Always event’ to identify things 
that women think should always happen in maternity services. As a result it was 
decided to give women the choice of having a supporter to stay for the first 24 hours 
following delivery where there is a medical need for mother or baby to remain in 
hospital. The aim is that this person will assist the new mother with basic baby care 
and support bonding with the baby. This started to be piloted at FGH in April and so 
far the feedback from partners has been positive. 
 
The new unit at Barrow is being co-designed with staff and service users and 
Maternity Matters events are being held routinely to engage mothers and others 
with an interest in maternity services, as was seen in Kendal on 20 May. This 

 
 
28



 

particular event provided another opportunity to seek views from service users and 
to keep them up to date with developments. To make the event as accessible as 
possible, the publicity material included how to arrange for transport to be booked if 
needed. Children’s play facilities were also available and lunch was provided.  
 
Mothers (and fathers who attended) took time to sit and talk to maternity services 
staff and to the representative from the Maternity Services Liaison Committee who 
was present. The discussions were around the experiences of the services users, 
what was good about the care they received and what could have been better. 
 
Following comments made during engagement activities about the importance of 
having good information available, the trust has been refreshing all public 
information in relation to maternity services. 
 
Also, following comments from women about their wish to have greater flexibility 
especially around antenatal care, the trust recently announced the roll-out of out of 
hours antenatal clinics at all of its units including Helme Chase. It is now looking at 
the possibility of extending this further by offering future drop-in clinics within 
community centres, children’s centres and pre-school groups. 
 
Finally, the trust recently secured £65,000 from NHS England for an innovative new 
project initiated by the Maternity Services Liaison Committee which will use patient 
feedback to help make improvements across its maternity services.  This follows a 
successful bid – one of only three countrywide - for funding from the Maternity 
Experience Challenge Fund. The money will be used to develop an innovative 
training tool for staff describing how communication, both good and bad, impacts on 
those women and families who use its services. The training tool will be developed 
from filming families talking about their experiences. 
 

7 Headlines from the national review of 
maternity services 
 
Following the publication of the Morecambe Bay Investigation report in March 2015 
it was announced that there would be a national review of maternity services. Its 
terms of reference included paying particular attention to the challenges of 
providing safe and responsive maternity services in rural areas and the team visited 
maternity units across Cumbria, including Helme Chase as part of its work 
programme. 
  
The report said: “Our vision for maternity services across England is for them to 
become safer, more personalised, kinder, professional and more family friendly; 
where every woman has access to information to enable her to make decisions 
about her care; and where she and her baby can access support that is centred 

 
 

29



 

around their individual needs and circumstances. 
 
“And for staff to be supported to deliver care which is women centred, working in 
high performing teams, in organisations which ae well led and in cultures which 
promote innovation, continuous learning, and break down organisational and 
professional boundaries.” 
 
The report included a table of recommendations for action, who should take 
responsibility and timescales, based on the following: 
 

• Personalised care, centred on the woman, her baby and her family, based 
around their needs and their decisions, where they have genuine choice, 
informed by unbiased information. 

• Continuity of carer, to ensure safe care based on a relationship of mutual 
trust and respect in line with the woman’s decisions. 

• Safer care, with professionals working together across boundaries to ensure 
rapid referral, and access to the right care in the right place; leadership for a 
safety culture within and across organisations; and investigation, honesty and 
learning when things go wrong. 

• Better postnatal and perinatal mental health care, to address historic 
underfunding and provision in these two vital areas, which can have a 
significant impact on the life chances and wellbeing of the woman, baby and 
family. 

• Multi-professional working, breaking down barriers between midwives, 
obstetricians and other professionals to deliver safe and personalised care for 
women and their babies. 

• Working across boundaries to provide and commission maternity services to 
support personalisation, safety and choice, with access to specialist care 
whenever needed. 

• A payment system that fairly and adequately compensates providers for 
delivering high quality care to all women efficiently, while supporting 
commissioners to commission for personalisation, safety and choice. 

In a section about remote and rural areas, the report said that such areas should 
think about how they can use their workforce innovatively, including sharing staff 
across multiple sites. They can also introduce innovative working practices including 
robust triage to ensure that women are transferred to the appropriate level of care 
at an appropriate time in the pregnancy, defining which women should be advised to 
give birth at which units, providing transport facilities for women needing to travel to 
more specialist units, and making use of technology e.g. consultations by video link 
between the centre and smaller unit. 
 

 
 
30



 

8 Response from the trust and the CCGs 
 
The trust and the CCGs acknowledge the impact that this change has had on 
maternity services staff, particularly those who at Helme Chase and recognise that 
they have worked hard to ensure that the arrangements have resulted in a good 
experience for women using the service. 
 
The trust and the CCGs believe that the interim change to services at Helme Chase 
has resulted in overall benefits for staff and for the women using maternity services 
and wish to see it continued on a permanent basis. Staffing resources are being used 
efficiently and effectively and this is supporting the provision of safe and sustainable 
maternity services across the trust. 
 
The organisations recognise with the benefit of hindsight that they should have 
carried out more engagement with local women and with key stakeholders before 
implementing the interim change at Helme Chase. Such early engagement would 
have provided an opportunity to discuss the rationale for the change in 
arrangements and may have avoided some of the initial concerns that were 
expressed. However, the interim change was made at a time when the trust’s 
maternity services were under pressure with serious staffing and recruitment 
difficulties and there was an urgent need to ensure that all resources were used as 
efficiently and effectively as possible to support the provision of safe services. At the 
time the organisations felt that they had to act quickly to ease some of the serious 
pressures facing the service overall. 
   
The interim change was made prior to the publication of the Morecambe Bay 
Investigation report which resulted in 18 recommendations for the trust. A 
substantial amount of work has been taking place to address these 
recommendations. These varied in nature and included reviewing job descriptions to 
clarify roles and responsibilities, forming a partnership with another NHS trust to 
share learning and best practice, promoting multi-disciplinary working and building a 
new unit at FGH. In a regular update at the end of April, shared widely with 
stakeholders and the media, the trust said it was on track to meet all of the 
recommendations. 
  
Earlier in April, the trust board approved plans for a new £11m maternity unit at FGH 
which will include a midwifery-led unit alongside a consultant-led unit to improve 
choice for women. Plans for the unit have been co-designed with staff, service users 
and members of the public to make sure that the finished unit offers local people the 
best service possible. 
 
Running alongside all of the activity following the Morecambe Bay Investigation, the 
trust and the CCGs have been responding to the recommendations of the 
independent review of maternity services across Cumbria and North Lancashire 

 
 

31



 

carried out by the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RCOG). 
 
The review was commissioned by NHS Cumbria CCG and NHS North Lancashire CCG 
to identify clinically sustainable and safe options for the delivery of obstetrics and 
gynaecology services. This was against a background of significant challenges in 
sustaining four consultant-led maternity units at Barrow, Carlisle, Lancaster and 
Whitehaven. 
 
The review, led by a past president of the RCOG, concluded that its preferred option 
was for maintenance of the four consultant-led units and the development of 
alongside midwifery-led units at Carlisle and Lancaster with consideration of the 
development of alongside midwifery-led units at Barrow and Whitehaven in the 
longer term. However, it set out a number of conditions that needed to be met 
before this could happen. 
 
The Better Care Together programme had already pledged its commitment to 
continuing to have two consultant-led units at Barrow and Lancaster and over the 
past year a significant amount of work has been taking place by the trust and the 
CCGs to explore how this can be sustained.   
 
 
Despite the improvements that have already been made, the CCGs and the trust now 
need to ensure that they address the recommendations of the national review and 
work continues on this. 
 

9 Conclusion 
 
Maternity services across Cumbria and North Lancashire have had a high profile in 
recent years. There has been national and local scrutiny before, during and following 
the Morecambe Bay Investigation and there has been an independent review, 
commissioned by the CCGs and carried out by the Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists. 
 
The drive throughout by the trust and the CCGs has been to ensure safe and 
sustainable maternity services for local women against a background of significant 
challenges and much has been achieved. The role played by staff in maternity 
services is recognised. 
 
A substantial amount of work has taken place to address the recommendations of 
both the Morecambe Bay Investigation and the review by the Royal College. While all 
of this was happening, it was necessary to ensure that the most effective use was 
made of all of the trust’s resources. 
 
The interim change at Helme Chase was made at a time when there were a 
significant number of days when the unit had staff on duty overnight with no 

 
 
32



 

mothers and babies to care for, while the trust’s other maternity units were facing 
serious staffing difficulties. This was not a good use of resources and since the 
change the trust has been able to free up more than 3,000 clinical hours. This has 
meant being able to use staff more effectively across all of the maternity units and 
also provide more personalised care for women, which was a key recommendation 
in the national review led by Baroness Cumberlege.  As a result more women now 
have named midwives, resulting in greater consistency and continuity of care. This 
has been one of the main messages from women during engagement activities. 
Low risk women can still choose to deliver their babies at Helme Chase – the unit is 
open 8am until 8pm and operates on-call overnight, at weekends and during bank 
holidays and they still have choice of a home birth. 
 
While the number of babies born at Helme Chase has declined with an average now 
of around 10 deliveries a month, this is a trend that is being seen at some other 
standalone midwifery-led units around the country. The trust is making concerted 
efforts with community groups to promote the unit and is developing new 
promotional information although it is known from engagement activities in Cumbria 
and elsewhere that the majority of pregnant women now say they choose to deliver 
their babies in units where there are obstetricians and support services in case of 
complications. 
 
There is also a range of national guidance that has resulted in a reduction of the 
number of women who are considered eligible for delivery in a standalone 
midwifery-led unit.  
 
The interim change has not had a negative impact on recruitment. The feeling within 
the trust is that the interim arrangements have resulted in a service that is more 
attractive for staff, who are now working as part of a larger team and are able to 
maintain their skills and competencies and also provide more support for women 
before and after delivery. 
 
Following its inspection the CQC concluded that the unit was safe, effective, caring, 
responsive and well led. There had been no deterioration from the previous 
inspection. It also recognised that the trust had consulted with staff and the local 
community to develop a sustainable service which met the needs of the local 
community. Engagement with local service users is now an embedded way of 
working across maternity services, with the most recent event being in Kendal on 20 
May when staff from maternity services were on hand to chat to mothers and some 
fathers about their experiences as service users, what was good about the care they 
received and what could have been better. 
 
Meanwhile, feedback about the experiences of women who have delivered their 
babies at Helme Case since the interim change made through iWantGreatCare 
showed a high level of satisfaction with all respondents saying they would 

 
 

33



 

recommend the unit. 
 
A new unit at Barrow is being developed with local people and arrangements are 
now in place to routinely meet with and engage service users. Following comments 
from women about the need for greater flexibility around antenatal appointments 
the trust recently announced the roll-out of out of hours antenatal clinics across all 
of it sites, including Helme Chase and is now considering the possibility of drop-in 
sessions in community venues. 
  
The trust and the CCGs have also welcomed the support of the Facebook campaign 
group which is helping to actively promote Helme Chase as a choice for low risk 
women. They also continue to the grateful to the Bay-wide Maternity Services 
Liaison Committee for the support received over engagement activities. 
 
Overall, against a very difficult background, the trust and the CCGs feel that real 
improvements have been made overall to maternity services for women living in 
South Cumbria and North Lancashire. The interim change at Helme Chase has helped 
to make some of these improvements possible and the NHS organisations now feel 
that this change should become permanent.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
34



 

 
Appendix 1 – I want great care, WGH - Labour 
 

 

 
 

35



 

 

 
 
36



 

 

 
 

37



 

 

 

 
 
38



 

 

 
 

39



 

 

 
 
40



 

 

 
 

41



 

 

 
 
42



 

 

 
 

43



 

 

 
 
44



 

 

 
 

45



 

 

 

 
 
46



 

 

 
 

47



 

 

 
 
48



 

 

 
 

49



 

 

 
 
50



 

 

 
 

51



 

 

 
 
52



 

Appendix 2 Timeline – Helme Chase – updated 
10/05/16 
Action/meeting/event Date  Notes  
Joint discussion on paper, 
timeline, comms plan.  

21/04/16  

Agreement on locality input  
 

26/04/16 Agreed conduit would be JH, 
AB and AL.  

Draft paper to be completed 
and out for comment to group  
 

30/04/16 Final drafting by Rachel 
Chapman  

Final comments on draft 
paper to be added  

09/05/16 Rachel Chapman  

CCCG Directors meeting  10/05/16 
 

 

Joint CCG discussion  14/05/16 
 

Via AG 

QSM 
 

16/05/16  

CCCG clinical leads  
 

19/05/16  

Maternity matters event 
Kendal 
  

20/05/16  

Final version of document in 
place taking into account 
feedback from Kendal event  

21/05/16  

MBUHT board part 2  
 

25/05/16  

CCCG governing body part 2  
 

01/06/16  

Meeting to be set up with Tim 
Farron 

TBA JC to arrange  

Joint locality exec 10/06/16 
 

General update on 
maternity plus Helme Chase  
 

Papers out for substantial 
variation committee and 
become public  

10/06/16  
15/06/16 – papers on web 
site  

 

Substantial variation sub 
committee  

23/06/16  

Paper considered by HOSC 
 

25/07/16  

 
 
 
 

 
 

53



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For more information contact... 
 
name. Eleanor Hodgson 

tel. 07901 918342 
email. Eleanor.Hodgson@CumbriaCCG.nhs.uk 
web. www.cumbriaccg.nhs.uk 
 
 

 
54

mailto:Eleanor.Hodgson@CumbriaCCG.nhs.uk
http://www.cumbriaccg.nhs.uk/


SUBSTANTIAL VARIATION PROTOCOL

Introduction

This protocol has been developed to facilitate a common approach between NHS 
Organisations and the Health Scrutiny Committee of Cumbria County Council as to 
what constitutes a ‘substantial variation or development’ of health services. 

It is intended to promote early discussions on potential substantial variations as they 
are initially considered, prior to any formal consultation, so as to facilitate a more 
collaborative and joined up approach to substantial variations. The protocol is about 
working together, within the legal framework, to improve the experience of patients. 
Whilst concentrating on substantial variations or developments of health services, a 
recurrent theme is the need for the NHS Organisations and the Health Scrutiny 
Committee of Cumbria County Council to remain focussed on the needs of patients 
and opportunities to improve their care.

It is not intended that this protocol shall prejudice, conflict with or affect the exercise 
of the statutory functions, powers, rights, duties, responsibilities or obligations arising 
or imposed under any legislative provision enactment, bye-law or regulation 
whatsoever, nor shall it fetter the exercise of any discretion the Council or any NHS 
Organisation may have.

Legislative & Constitutional Context

Section 244 of the National Health Service Act 2006 authorises the Secretary of 
State to make regulations in relation to health scrutiny. 

Regulation 23 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 (The Regulations) place an obligation on 
NHS Organisations to consult with the Council where they are considering any 
proposal for substantial developments or substantial variations to health services 
other than where a decision must be made as a result of the risk to safety or welfare 
of patients or staff. 

The Council may issue a report to the Secretary of State where:

a. the Council is not satisfied that consultation on any proposal has been 
adequate in relation to content or time allowed;

b. the Council is not satisfied that the reasons given by the NHS 
Organisation not to consult are adequate; or

c. the Council considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of 
the health service in its area.

Other than in relation to the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation 
Trust the Council has delegated its role in relation to the above regulations to 
Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee (CHSC). This Protocol shall not apply in relation 
to the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust whose 
substantial variations shall be addressed in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

55



Stage 1 - Substantial Variation Determination Procedure

There is no definition within the Regulations of what constitutes a substantial 
variation or development and as a result proposals for service change should be 
discussed with the CHSC at an early stage to attempt to reach a common position 
between the NHS Organisation and CHSC where possible. 

Without limiting the previous paragraph the parties will, where appropriate, use the 
following procedure:

1. When an NHS Organisation develops or is made aware of a proposed 
variation which may be substantial it shall advise the CHSC as soon as 
possible. 

2. The NHS Organisation shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, provide 
the CHSC with such information as is reasonably necessary to allow it to 
form a view on whether a change is substantial.

3. Both parties shall then attempt to form a common position on whether 
the variation is substantial. In deciding whether a change is a substantial 
variation the NHS Organisation and the CHSC will consider:

 whether there is a major change to services experienced by patients 
and future patients; 

 the impact of the change upon patients, carers, the community, other 
services and the public who use a service, or may use it in the 
future;

 whether the majority of patients using the service would experience 
a significant material change in how they receive that service, 
particularly in terms of access or location.

4. Where, following the parties assessment, the NHS Organisation notifies 
the CHSC that it considers that the variation not to be substantial, but 
the Council considers the variation is substantial the parties shall follow 
the resolution procedure below with a view to resolving the 
disagreement. 

Relevant factors 

The NHS Organisations and CHSC have agreed that the following factors may be 
relevant in determining the nature of a variation:

56



Characteristics likely to diminish 
defining proposals as substantial

Characteristics likely to increase 
defining proposals as substantial 

Where questions are about quality
 Area of proven practice with robust 

clinical governance and risk 
assessment arrangements

 Proposal not tried and tested 
 Conflict or disagreement Ethical 

issues 
 Where issues of quality, or choice vs. 

access need to be balanced
Groups affected and nature of impact
 Patients do not consider proposals 

significant 
 Proposals will have positive impact on 

patients and carers 
 Proposals to increase 

capacity/access/address any adverse 
travel implications

 Proposal is for a short or temporary 
duration

 Small number of patients / or low 
proportion of a particular group 
affected

 Patients consider proposals 
significant 

 Proposals will have varying impact on 
different constituencies 

 Proposals increase inequalities in 
access to services

 Proposal is for a permanent change 
to the service

 Large number of patients affected, or 
all/most of a particular group of 
patients affected. 

Wider implications:
 Adverse impact on patients groups 
 Lack of cohesion with other NHS or 
 community strategies 
 Widening of inequalities 
 Cumulative effect 
 Effect on wider community 

Climate of opinion
 Clinical support for proposal
 Support from community and 

patients through robust community 
and stakeholder engagement at all 
stages 

 Proposals specifically address 
concerns e.g. transport provision and 
home support for day surgery 

 Proposal based on need for change 
and agreement on way forward 

 Lack of clinical consensus 
 High level of opposition, especially 

from patients and public, concerns 
not addressed, inadequate 
community engagement 

 Rationale for proposal not clear 

Stage 2 -Substantial Variation Implementation Procedure 

Where the parties agree that a proposed variation is substantial the NHS 
Organisation shall produce a draft variation plan which it shall submit to the CHSC 
for consideration. The CHSC will provide comments to the NHS Organisation which 
will then consider the comments and go out to consultation formally with the relevant 
stakeholders in accordance with the relevant legislation.

57



The timetable for consideration of the drafts shall, unless otherwise agreed, be:

Action Timing
Submission of draft variation plan 
to the Council

As soon as possible following determination that 
the change is substantial, but in any event within 
[2] weeks.

Consideration and initial 
comments by the Council

Comments & recommendations to be provided 
within [4] weeks of submission of plans.

NHS Organisation to review 
comments and recommendations 
and provide feedback on 
changes

Feedback to the Council on comments and 
recommendations within [2] weeks of receipt of 
comments. 

Where the NHS Organisation chooses not to implement a recommendation or 
comment on the adequacy of the proposed consultation by the CHSC the parties 
shall follow the resolution procedure set out below.  

Stage 3 – Consultation on the Substantial Variation

The NHS Organisation will carry out it’s public consultation providing details to the 
CHSC to allow for appropriate engagement by the Committee.

Once the consultation has been completed the NHS Organisation will report the 
results of the consultation back to the CHSC with its response and proposed next 
steps.

If at this stage the CHSC feel that the proposal would not be in the interests of the 
health service in its area the parties shall follow the resolution procedure set out 
below.  

Resolution Procedure 

This section sets out the process which the NHS Organisation and CHSC will go 
through in order to resolve disagreements over whether a change is substantial and 
over changes recommended and comments made by the CHSC on draft variation 
plans. 

Should the NHS Organisation and the CHSC fail to reach agreement on any of the 
matters discussed above either party may:

1. Send to the other a [form/letter] setting out the area of disagreement and 
that party’s position in relation to it. The [form/letter] shall propose not 
less than three dates for a meeting to discuss the dispute with the other 
party.

2. The Chair of the CHSC and the relevant senior officer of the NHS 
Organisation shall meet within 28 days of the receipt of the [form/letter] 
to discuss the disagreement in further detail. 

58



3. Should an agreed position not be reached within 7 days of the meeting 
referred to at paragraph 2, above, the parties may make proposals for 
further negotiations or, if no proposals are received or accepted, this 
protocol will be considered exhausted and the NHS Organisation may 
take a decision on how to proceed. The CHSC will then make a decision 
on whether or not to refer the matter to the Secretary of State.

The parties shall agree minutes of dispute meetings which may be disclosed to the 
Secretary of State, other competent bodies or in accordance with any other 
obligation to disclose by either party. 

59



NHS Organisation advises CHSC of 
potential variation which may be 

substantial

Both parties attempt to form a common 
position on whether the variation is 

substantial.

Where the NHS Organisation chooses 
not to implement a recommendation or 

comment of the CHSC may decide to 
refer to the SOS (following resolution 

procedure)

Agree

Disagree

If, parties cannot reach consensus and 
NHS Organisation decides to go ahead 

without consultation the CHSC may 
decide to refer to the SOS (following 

resolution procedure)

NHS Organisation submit a draft 
variation plan to the CHSC for 
consideration CHSC to provide 

comments and recommended changes 
to the draft variation plan. 

NHS Organisation can accept or reject 
the comments from CHSC

Accept

Reject

NHS Organisation undertakes 
Consultation reporting the results back 
to the CHSC with their response to the 

consultation 

If following the consultation the CHSC 
considers that the proposed change still 

would not be in the interests of the 
health service in its area it may decide 

to refer to the SOS (following resolution 
procedure)

St
ag
e 
1

St
ag
e 
2

St
ag
e 
3

60



CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY VARIATION 
SUB-COMMITTEE

Meeting date: 23 June 2016

From: Chief Executive

MENTAL HEALTH PROVISION

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is outlining a process that 
it intends to use to undertake a review of the configuration of adult inpatient 
mental health provision across Cumbria (appendix 1 refers). 

2.0 ISSUES FOR SCRUTINY

2.1 The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Variation Sub-Committee is asked to consider 
whether to treat the options consultation as a substantial variation for the 
purposes of applying the variation protocol.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 

3.1 NHS Cumbria CCG is intending to put forward proposals for the reshaping of 
the configuration of adult inpatient mental health beds in Cumbria.  Those 
proposals are being currently developed and will go through internal NHS 
England assurance processes.  At that point it is the CCG’s intention to go out 
to consultation on a wide range of options.

3.2 Depending on the outcome of the consultation, the final decision may or may 
not result in a variation that could be deemed to be substantial.  However, in 
order to ensure that an effective process is undertaken, including consultation, 
the CCG is asking the Variation Sub-Committee to agree that the options 
process be treated as though it was a substantial variation.

3.3 If the Sub-Committee decides that the proposed options should follow the 
substantial variation process then the CCG will bring proposals on the extent 
and nature of the consultation around the options to the next meeting of the full 
Committee. 

Diane Wood
Chief Executive

June 2015

Appendices

Appendix 1 Presentation from NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group
Contact: Derek Houston, Email: derek.houston@cumbria.gov.uk Tel: 07771 975902

61

Agenda Item 6

mailto:derek.houston@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Tital

Discussion Today

• Vision and Context

• Governance

• Process

• Timeline

63



Tital

Our Vision

• Recovery focused & resilience building

• Person-centred care, delivered as close to home as possible

• Parity of esteem

• Urgent & emergency mental health care

• Mental health & physical health

ü LTCs

ü Reducing inequalities

• Improved Quality and Sustainability

64



Tital

Priorities in Urgent Care

Improve the mental health crisis pathway by focusing on three key areas of 

improvement:

• Enabling access to crisis assessment and support – crisis ‘proof of concept’ 

• Developing community-based alternative crisis support

• Configuration of our mental health acute hospital services

65



Tital

Context: In-Patient

Function Beds Site

136 Suites 4 Carlton Clinic, Furness Genweral Hospital, West 

Cumberland Hospital, Westmorland General Hospital

Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit 10 Carlton Clinic, Carlisle

Pyschiatric Rehabilitation 10 ACORN unit, Carlton Clinic, Carlisle

Acute assessment and treatment 24 beds (mixed) Hadrian, Carleton Clinic, Carlisle

Acute assessment and treatment 20 beds (mixed) Dova, Furness General Hospital

Acute assessment and treatment 12 beds Kentmere, Westmoreland General Hospital

Acute assessment and treatment 16 beds Yewdale, West Cumberland General Hospital

Functional Frail Elderly 12 beds Oakwood, Carleton Clinic, Carlisle 

Dementia beds Ramsey, Furness General Hospital

Dementia 15 beds Ruskin, Carleton Clinic, Carlisle

TOTAL 138 beds (72 acute, 12 functional frail elderly, 30 Dementia 

specialist, 4 x s136, 10 PICU, 10 Rehabilitation )

66



Tital

Process

• Long List, Hurdle Criteria and Engagement (some work already)

• Short list, Preferred Option and Engagement (some views already)

• Pre Consultation Business Case and NHS England Assurance

• Consultation

• Decision(s) and Implementation

67



Tital

Governance

• Mental Health Partnership Board

• NHS Cumbria CCG and Cumbria Partnership NHS FT

• NHS England and External Clinical Review

• Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee

• Success Regime, Better Care Together, STPs Arrangements

• Senior Responsible Officer(s) and Project Group

68



Tital

Pre Consultation Business Case

• Case For Change

• Engagement

• The Proposed Changes and Options

• Appraisal of Options

• Impact of Preferred Options

69



Tital

Evaluation Criteria

Four Equally Weighted Criteria:

• Health Gap: Population Health, Health Inequalities

• Care Gap: Quality – Outcomes, Safety, Experience

• Efficiency Gap: Capital and Revenue

• Deliverability: Workforce, Managing Change 

70



Tital

Consultation

• Consultation Document and Supporting Information

• Choice of Options and Seeking Views

• Three Months, Range of Communication Approaches

• Good Practice: open, transparent, effective, engaging, proportionate, 

accessible

• External Review

71



Tital

Decision Making and Implementation

• Informed by the Consultation Process

• Technical Appraisal / External Review

• Joint CCG Governing Body and CPFT Board

• Trust Implementation

• Final Process Close

72



Tital

Timeline

May: Long List, Information Requirement, Project Plan and 

Resources

June: Further engagement on Long List Hurdle Criteria?

July: Short List Appraisal, Consultation Process, Pre Consultation Business 

Case

73



Tital

Timeline

August: NHS England Assurance, Consultation Document and Plan

Sept: Consultation Begins

Nov: Consultation Ends

Dec: Full Consideration, Decision Making, Communication

2017: Implementation

74



CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY - VARIATION SUB 
COMMITTEE

Meeting date: 23 June 2016

From: Chief Executive

PROPOSED MERGER OF CASTLEGATE AND DERWENT SURGERIES, 
COCKERMOUTH

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 This report contains a submission from the Practice Manager at the Castlegate 
and Derwent Surgeries, Cockermouth with a proposal to merge the patient lists 
of the two practices. 

2.0 ISSUES FOR SCRUTINY

2.1 The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider whether the 
proposal constitutes a substantial service change;

3.0 BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 

3.1 To support the Committee in considering the proposed changes, Appendix 1 is 
a letter from the practice setting out the details of, and rational for the merger.  

3.3 At the meeting the Sub-Committee will have the opportunity to seek clarification 
on any issue and following that will be asked to make decisions on whether it 
considers the change to be a substantial variation. 

3.4 If the Committee decides that the proposed changes are not a substantial 
variation to the service then the changes can proceed without any further 
decisions by the full committee or any reference to the committee in the future.

3.5 If, however, the Sub-Committee decides that the proposed changes are a 
substantial variation then the proposal will be referred to the full committee to 
decide what it would consider to be proportionate consultation.

3.6 In addition, if the Sub-Committee decides that the proposed changes are a 
substantial variation, then the committee will once again consider the proposals 
at a future meeting in light of the outcome of the consultation.  

Diane Wood
Chief Executive

14 June 2016

75

Agenda Item 7



Appendices

Appendix 1 Letter from Castlegate and Derwent Surgeries

Contact: 

David Stephens
Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer
Cumbria County Council
David.stephens@cumbria.gov.uk

76

mailto:David.stephens@cumbria.gov.uk


77



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 HELME CHASE MIDWIFE-LED MATERNITY UNIT
	Helme Chase
	Substantial Variation Protocol

	6 MENTAL HEALTH PROVISION
	Mental Health In-Patient Provision

	7 PROPOSED MERGER OF CASTLEGATE AND DERWENT SURGERIES, COCKERMOUTH
	Merger of Castlegate and Derwent Surgeries


